

# eCommons@AKU

Department of Paediatrics and Child Health

Division of Woman and Child Health

6-5-2017

# Case-control vaccine effectiveness studies: Data collection, analysis and reporting results

Jennifer R. Verani Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA

Abdullah H. Baqui Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, USA

Claire V. Broome Rollins School of Public Health Emory University, USA

**Thomas Cherian** World Health Organization, Switzerland

Cheryl Cohen National Institute for Communicable Diseases, South Africa

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://ecommons.aku.edu/ pakistan\_fhs\_mc\_women\_childhealth\_paediatr



Part of the Influenza Virus Vaccines Commons, and the Pediatrics Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Verani, J. R., Baqui, A. H., Broome, C. V., Cherian, T., Cohen, C., Farrar, J. L., Feikin, D. R., Groome, M. J., Hajjeh, R. A., Zaidi, A. K. (2017). Case-control vaccine effectiveness studies: Data collection, analysis and reporting results. Vaccine, 35(25), 3303-3308.

Available at: https://ecommons.aku.edu/pakistan\_fhs\_mc\_women\_childhealth\_paediatr/299

Authors		
	Claire V. Broome, Thomas Cherian, Cheryl Cohen, Jennifer L. Fai ana A. Hajjeh, and Anita K. M. Zaidi	rra



#### Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Vaccine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine



# Review

# Case-control vaccine effectiveness studies: Data collection, analysis and reporting results



Jennifer R. Verani <sup>a,\*</sup>, Abdullah H. Baqui <sup>b</sup>, Claire V. Broome <sup>c</sup>, Thomas Cherian <sup>d</sup>, Cheryl Cohen <sup>e</sup>, Jennifer L. Farrar <sup>a</sup>, Daniel R. Feikin <sup>a,f</sup>, Michelle J. Groome <sup>g</sup>, Rana A. Hajjeh <sup>a</sup>, Hope L. Johnson <sup>h</sup>, Shabir A. Madhi <sup>e,g</sup>, Kim Mulholland <sup>i,j</sup>, Katherine L. O'Brien <sup>f</sup>, Umesh D. Parashar <sup>a</sup>, Manish M. Patel <sup>a</sup>, Laura C. Rodrigues <sup>j</sup>, Mathuram Santosham <sup>f</sup>, J. Anthony Scott <sup>j,k</sup>, Peter G. Smith <sup>l</sup>, Halvor Sommerfelt <sup>m,n</sup>, Jacqueline E. Tate <sup>a</sup>, J. Chris Victor <sup>o</sup>, Cynthia G. Whitney <sup>a</sup>, Anita K. Zaidi <sup>p</sup>, Elizabeth R. Zell <sup>a</sup>

# ARTICLE INFO

#### Article history: Received 20 December 2016 Received in revised form 10 April 2017 Accepted 12 April 2017 Available online 23 April 2017

Keywords: Vaccines Case-control studies Evaluation studies

# ABSTRACT

The case-control methodology is frequently used to evaluate vaccine effectiveness post-licensure. The results of such studies provide important insight into the level of protection afforded by vaccines in a 'real world' context, and are commonly used to guide vaccine policy decisions. However, the potential for bias and confounding are important limitations to this method, and the results of a poorly conducted or incorrectly interpreted case-control study can mislead policies. In 2012, a group of experts met to review recent experience with case-control studies evaluating vaccine effectiveness; we summarize the recommendations of that group regarding best practices for data collection, analysis, and presentation of the results of case-control vaccine effectiveness studies. Vaccination status is the primary exposure of interest, but can be challenging to assess accurately and with minimal bias. Investigators should understand factors associated with vaccination as well as the availability of documented vaccination status in the study context; case-control studies may not be a valid method for evaluating vaccine effectiveness in settings where many children lack a documented immunization history. To avoid bias, it is essential to use the same methods and effort gathering vaccination data from cases and controls. Variables that may confound the association between illness and vaccination are also important to capture as completely as possible, and where relevant, adjust for in the analysis according to the analytic plan. In presenting results from case-control vaccine effectiveness studies, investigators should describe enrollment among eligible cases and controls as well as the proportion with no documented vaccine history. Emphasis should be placed on confidence intervals, rather than point estimates, of vaccine effectiveness. Case-control studies are a useful approach for evaluating vaccine effectiveness; however careful attention must be paid to the collection, analysis and presentation of the data in order to best inform evidence-based vaccine policies. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creative-

commons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

E-mail address: jverani@cdc.gov (J.R. Verani).

a National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1600 Clifton Rd, Atlanta, GA, USA

b International Center for Maternal and Newborn Health, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 615 N Wolfe St, Baltimore, MD, USA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Rollins School of Public Health Emory University, 1518 Clifton Rd, Atlanta, GA, USA

d Department of Immunizations, Vaccines and Biologicals, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland

e Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, 1 Modderfontein Rd, Sandringham, Johannesburg, South Africa

f International Vaccine Access Center, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 615 N Wolfe St, Baltimore, MD, USA

g Respiratory and Meningeal Pathogens Unit, University of Witwatersrand, Richard Ward, 1 Jan Smuts Ave, Braamfontein, Johannesburg, South Africa

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>h</sup> Monitoring & Evaluation, Policy & Performance, GAVI Alliance, Chemin des Mines 2, 1202 Geneva, Switzerland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Murdoch Children's Research Institute, Royal Children's Hospital, 50 Flemington Rd, Parkville VIC 3052, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel St, London WC1E 7HT, UK

k KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, PO Box 230-80108, Kilifi, Kenya

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, London School of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, London, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>m</sup> Centre of Intervention Science in Maternal and Child Health and Centre for International Health, University of Bergen, PO Box 7800, Bergen, Norway

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>n</sup> Department of International Public Health, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, PO Box 4404, Nydalen, Oslo, Norway

<sup>°</sup> PATH, 2201 Westlake Avenue, Seattle, WA, USA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>p</sup> Aga Khan University, Stadium Rd, Karachi, Pakistan

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

#### Contents

	Introduction	
	Assessment of vaccination status	
	Other variables and unmeasured confounding factors	
4.	Implementation and adherence to protocols	3305
	Analysis	
6.	Reporting study results	3306
	Conclusions.	
	Author contributions	
	Funding	3307
	Disclaimers	3307
	Author disclosures of potential conflict of interest	3307
	Acknowledgements	3307
	References	3307

# 1. Introduction

New vaccines are licensed based on the results of randomized controlled trials demonstrating safety and efficacy. Yet even after licensure, there are often questions about how well a vaccine protects against disease in a "real world" context because of differences in epidemiologic contexts, host factors affecting immune response, vaccine implementation (e.g. varying dosing schedules), and the potential for waning immunity over time [1]. The casecontrol method is commonly used to estimate effectiveness after a vaccine has been implemented in a public health system; recent examples include evaluations of vaccines against *Haemophilus Influenzae* type B (Hib) [2–13], *Streptococcus pneumoniae* [14–21], influenza [22], rotavirus [23–36], and cholera [37–39]. The results of case-control vaccine effectiveness studies can complement and extend the data generated by clinical trials.

However the potential for bias and confounding are important limitations to the case-control method [40,41]. In 2012, a group of experts met to review recent experience with case-control studies evaluating the effectiveness of several vaccines; here we summarize the recommendations of that group regarding best practices for data collection, analysis and interpretation. (A separate paper provides an overview of the case-control method for evaluating vaccine effectiveness and reviews planning, design, and the identification and enrollment of cases and controls.) While case-control vaccine effectiveness studies have been carried out in countries of all income levels, this review focuses on their implementation in resource-poor settings.

# 2. Assessment of vaccination status

Vaccination status is the primary exposure of interest for casecontrol vaccine effectiveness studies, but it can be challenging to assess it accurately [42]. Misclassification of vaccination status can affect the VE estimates in various ways. Non-differential misclassification of vaccination status (i.e. cases and controls have similar risks of misclassification) will bias the effectiveness estimate towards the null [41]. Differential misclassification (i.e. vaccine classification errors have different probabilities in cases and controls) can bias the effectiveness estimate towards or away from the null, or even result in a negative VE, giving the false impression that vaccinated are at greater risk of the target disease than unvaccinated [41]. The same strategies to obtain vaccination history should be used for both cases and controls. Equal, intense effort must be made to obtain vaccination histories from all cases and controls [40,43], and those efforts should be clearly documented and reported.

Preferred sources of vaccination data are family-held vaccine records, clinic records, immunization registry data, or other written documentation of vaccines received and the dates on which they were administered. Doses not recorded on these documents are assumed to have not been received; although this assumption may be incorrect if recordkeeping is poor. Parent reporting of routine infant immunizations received, without written verification, may be unreliable [44]. However, if parents report receipt of no vaccines of any type or receipt of only birth doses, such a history may be valid even in the absence of written confirmation since unvaccinated children rarely will have family-held records and generally parents are unlikely to state that the child is unvaccinated when in fact he or she did receive vaccines. Because excluding unvaccinated children will lead to bias, children with a parental report of having received no routine vaccines beyond birth doses should be included and considered to have received no doses of the vaccine of interest. All eligible cases and controls should be enrolled regardless of whether a documented vaccination history is available at the time of enrollment. Although those lacking a confirmed vaccination history (other than unvaccinated children) will be excluded from primary analyses because of missing data, the proportion of enrolled children for whom vaccination history could not be obtained should be described in the results, and sensitivity analyses used to assess the impact of missing data on the effectiveness estimates (see Section 5).

Investigators should endeavor to understand factors associated with vaccination card availability and retention in the study setting, and whether those factors may also be linked to risk of disease or likelihood of vaccination [45]. In preparation for the study, efforts can be made to improve availability of cards and/or the quality and completeness of data in the clinic records. If vaccine histories are unavailable for a sizeable proportion of children in the area (e.g.  $\geq 5-10\%$ ), then efforts should be made to assess differences between children with and without documented histories. If important differences exist with regards with risk factors for disease, then a case-control study in that context is likely to yield biased effectiveness estimates. Case-control studies may not be a valid method for evaluating VE in settings where more than a small fraction of children lack a documented immunization history.

Abstracting vaccination data from family-held cards or clinic records is not always straightforward and can be a source of bias. Copies of the vaccination data source (e.g. digital photo, photocopies, or scanned images of the card or record) are extremely useful for controlling data quality. Copies can be used for double-abstraction (e.g. by two independent observers), which may improve the quality of data, particularly in settings where interpretation of information in the record may be challenging, for example, where parental-held records have no dedicated space for a new vaccine or for vaccines administered during campaigns. Copies potentially allow for blinding with regard to case or control status for the person abstracting the vaccination data [40]. Vaccine

lot numbers, if recorded, can aid in determining which vaccines were received. Dates of all relevant vaccine doses, including the vaccine of interest and other vaccines given on the same or similar schedules, should be carefully recorded.

# 3. Other variables and unmeasured confounding factors

In addition to vaccination status, data should be gathered on other variables that may confound the association between vaccination and the disease of interest [46,47]. Known or hypothesized confounders should be identified before study initiation, accurately and thoroughly captured during data collection, and adjusted for in the analysis if they confound the association between vaccination and illness. As with all observational studies, some degree of unmeasured confounding often occurs in case-control studies and has the potential to substantially alter the measured VE [48]. Unmeasured confounding may result from failure to collect data on a known confounder, insufficient or inadequate data collection for a known confounder, or lack of data on an unrecognized or unknown confounder.

A few strategies to quantify unmeasured confounders have been suggested. The first has been called a "bias-indicator" [37,39,49] or "sham outcome" [50] study. This is performed concurrently with a case-control study of vaccine effectiveness, where the effectiveness of the studied vaccine is measured against another disease which is not expected to be prevented by the vaccine [37,39,49]. As the vaccine should confer no protection against this other disease, any measured vaccine effectiveness would be indicative of unmeasured confounding. A bias-indicator study of oral cholera vaccine in Mozambique evaluated the vaccine's effectiveness against non-cholera diarrhea, and found an effectiveness of 35% (95% CI -18% to 65%); however after adjustment for known confounders the vaccine effectiveness was 0%. This suggests that while there was confounding of the effectiveness results, it was not due to unmeasured confounding [37]. A limitation of the bias indicator study is the assumption that vaccine effects are specific to the vaccine target, whereas there is increasing evidence that some vaccines may have non-specific effects that could reduce the risk for non-targeted infections [51]. Non-infectious illnesses (e.g. accidents or injuries) could be considered as outcomes for bias indicators studies. Another type of study to quantify unmeasured confounding has been dubbed a "sham exposure" [50] or "sham case-control" [52] study. Here vaccine effectiveness of another vaccine is measured against the disease of interest. In Kenya, investigators measured the effectiveness of diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis-Hib-Hepatitis B vaccine against rotavirus disease among children prior to the expected introduction of the rotavirus vaccine in 2014 and found no protection [52]. Because sham case-control studies are generally carried out before the introduction of a new vaccine, they require advance planning and resources. When feasible, they can be useful for planning case-control studies, for example by revealing the least biased control group or identifying measurable confounders in the population.

# 4. Implementation and adherence to protocols

The quality of data on enrollment, vaccination status, and potential confounders depends on writing and implementing clear protocols and Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) for study conduct. Efforts to recruit cases and controls should be documented using standardized forms such as screening logs or registers; such documentation can be used to monitor the adherence to study procedures and identify lapses as quickly as possible.

Because of potential for selection bias in control enrollment for vaccine effectiveness case-control studies, it is particularly important to standardize, document clearly in logs, and regularly monitor at the field level, the process for enrolling controls [53]. This should include the number of potential controls screened, number and timing of attempts made to enroll potentially eligible controls, the reasons for non-enrollment of potential controls, the frequency of refusals, and the number and characteristics of the controls who were not enrolled. Some methods for supervision of field staff enrolling controls may include GPS tracking of field staff (to monitor their locations and pace of recruitment and enrollment) and intermittent supervisor monitoring of the homes that were visited. Any departures from the protocol or SOPs must be reported to study lead investigators and documented.

## 5. Analysis

The statistical analysis of a case-control study for the evaluation of vaccine effectiveness should follow directly from the protocol and analysis plan, which should define the outcomes to be examined, as well as the exposures of interest (e.g. complete schedule, 2 or more doses). The "unadjusted" effectiveness from a case-control study is calculated as  $(1 - \text{odds ratio for vaccination}) \times 100\%$ .

For cases, vaccination status is defined based on the number of doses received before becoming ill and usually excludes doses received within the two weeks prior to allow for induction of immune response. For individually matched controls, a reference date should be defined in order to examine the control's vaccination status before the corresponding case became ill [42]; the reference date is often based on the case's date of illness onset, but may be based upon the date of hospitalization or sample collection. Doses received more than two weeks (if this is the period used for the case) before the reference date should be considered in the analysis. For frequency matched controls, the situation in which multiple controls are matched to multiple cases, there are different reference dates (or ages) associated with each of the cases and controls, and the analysis must take account of this. A method for doing this has been described by Keogh et al. [54].

The odds ratio is usually calculated from a logistic regression model, using unconditional logistic regression for unmatched or frequency matched studies, and conditional logistic regression for matched studies, with strata defined for each matched case-control set [55]. For simple conditional logistic regression, only discordant strata (e.g. vaccinated cases with at least one non-vaccinated control, or non-vaccinated case with at least one vaccinated control) contribute to the analysis [55]; thus in settings of very high or low vaccine coverage, the power of the analyses will be reduced.

While all efforts should be made in the study design phase to minimize confounding (e.g. by matching), it is usually necessary to also control for confounding in the analysis, where potential confounders are included as independent variables in a regression model. Because inclusion of multiple covariates can result in loss of statistical power, it is important to avoid including factors that are not true confounders. There is no formal statistical test for evaluating whether to include a potential confounder in the final analysis [46]. Some researchers approach the inclusion of confounders based on the past literature and include all potential confounders in a full model. Others prefer to evaluate potential confounders based on the data of the current study. A common approach to confounder evaluation is to include both vaccination status and single potential confounders, one at a time, as independent variables in the logistic regression model. If the OR associated with vaccination status changes by a predetermined, albeit arbitrary, percent (e.g. 10%) or more after adjusting for the potential confounder, then that variable is retained in the final multivariable model since it appears to impact the VE [41]. Another approach for determining which variables to include in a multivariable model is the use of directed acyclic graphs, which are causal diagrams used to identify a subset of covariates that address confounding while avoiding introduction of bias [56]. Directed acyclic graphs have been used for case-control vaccine effectiveness studies of influenza [57,58]. While different strategies for identifying important confounding variables are acceptable, the method used should be determined at the stage of developing the analytic plan.

Before deciding on a final model, some investigators prefer to examine whether the odds ratio (and thereby the VE) differ between strata of potential confounders (i.e. effect modification). This may be formally tested using appropriate interaction terms in the regression models. If such interaction is meaningful and statistically significant, stratum-specific VEs might be reported [59]. For example, in a study of the 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in the United States, the effectiveness against vaccine-type and non-vaccine type invasive pneumococcal disease was presented for healthy children and those with comorbidities, since this variable was found to have significant interaction with vaccination status [14].

Missing vaccination data present a problem in a vaccine effectiveness case-control study, since those with missing data likely differ from those with a documented vaccination history in ways that could bias effectiveness estimates. One approach to handling missing vaccination histories is to conduct a sensitivity analysis. The simplest sensitivity analysis assumes those with a missing vaccination history are either all unvaccinated or all completely vaccinated, providing two estimates of effectiveness under two different assumptions. A study of the Hib vaccine conducted in the Dominican Republic used this approach and found very little impact on the results, suggesting that the findings of the primary analysis were not substantially biased by the missing vaccination history data [60]. Sensitivity analysis could also be conducted to examine the impact of low (and potentially biased) enrollment of controls on effectiveness estimates by assuming a range of vaccine coverage for individuals who were eligible but not enrolled. Methodological approaches to dealing with missing data have been advancing rapidly, and although there has been little work in vaccine effectiveness studies evaluating the usefulness of multiple imputation for missing vaccination histories for enrolled participants (or non-enrolled participants, as mentioned above), this approach warrants exploration [61]. Nonetheless, all possible efforts should be made to obtain as complete information as possible on vaccination status of cases and controls; no sensitivity analysis or imputation can fully compensate for data completeness and validity.

#### 6. Reporting study results

The STROBE (STrengthening the Reporting of OBservational studies in Epidemiology) guidelines for reporting on case-control studies are an excellent reference for determining the key pieces of information to record for a vaccine effectiveness study [62]. For case-control vaccine effectiveness studies, it is crucial to provide a clear and explicit description of the recruitment strategy for cases and controls, and to carefully document non-enrollment as well as enrollment. Readers should be given a clear understanding of how many potential cases and controls were screened to achieve the number of enrolled participants and the primary reasons for non-enrollment (e.g. not eligible, unable to contact, refused participation). The number of cases and controls with no documented vaccination history should also be stated in the results. Relevant differences between included

cases and controls, as well as between those with and without reliable vaccination history, should be documented.

In interpreting the study findings, investigators should focus on the confidence intervals of effectiveness estimates. Although readers or policy makers may be naturally drawn to point estimates, confidence intervals add crucial information on the precision of these estimates. Reports of case-control vaccine effectiveness studies should also include a discussion of the limitations and potential sources of bias, taking into consideration the inherent limitations of the study design.

#### 7. Conclusions

The case-control methodology is frequently used to evaluate the effectiveness of new vaccines, providing important data on the 'real-world' performance of vaccines that guide decisions about vaccine introduction and sustained use [63,64]. However, the potential for bias and confounding is high, and can threaten the validity of the findings. Studies aimed at better understanding bias in case-control studies, such as a simulation model estimating potential biases in influenza vaccine effectiveness studies [65], can advance the field and provide more specific guidance regarding circumstances in which the case-control approach is likely to yield reliable results.

High quality vaccination data collected using the methods for cases and controls is crucial for vaccine effectiveness studies: in settings where documented vaccination histories are difficult to obtain, case-control vaccine effectiveness studies are unlikely to be useful. Variables that confound the association between vaccination and disease should be carefully measured and adjusted for in the analysis. In reporting the results of a case-control vaccine effectiveness study, it is important to include information that provides insight into the degree of possible bias in enrollment and data collection, such as the number of potential controls screened or the proportion of cases and controls with documented vaccine history. Vaccine effectiveness estimates should be presented with emphasis on the confidence interval rather than the point estimate. In order for case-control studies to accurately guide vaccine policy decisions, data collection must be thorough and with careful attention to minimize bias, the analysis performed per the analytic plan with attention to potential confounding, and the results carefully interpreted and presented.

## **Author contributions**

JRV: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing: Original draft preparation Writing: Review and editing, Project administration, Supervision.

AHB: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

CVB: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

TC: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

CC: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing: Review and editing.

JLF: Writing: Review and editing, Project administration.

DRF: Conceptualization, Writing: Original draft preparation, Writing: Review and editing.

MG: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

RAH: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing: Review and editing, Funding acquisition.

HLJ: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

SAM: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

KM: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

KLO: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing: Review and editing, Supervision.

UDP: Conceptualization, Writing: Original draft preparation, Writing: Review and editing.

MMP: Conceptualization, Writing: Original draft preparation, Writing: Review and editing.

LCR: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

MS: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

JAS: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing; Review and editing.

PGS: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing: Review and editing.

HS: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing: Review and editing.

JET: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

ICV: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

CGW: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing: Review and editing, Supervision.

AKZ: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing. ERZ: Conceptualization, Writing: Review and editing.

### **Funding**

Funds from the GAVI Alliance covered the cost of an expert meeting held in November 2012 to discuss the case-control method for evaluating vaccine effectiveness.

# **Disclaimers**

The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Thomas Cherian is a staff member of the World Health Organization. He alone is responsible for the views expressed in this publication, which may not necessarily represent the decisions or the policies of the World Health Organization.

# Author disclosures of potential conflict of interest

CC reports having received grant funds from Sanofi Pasteur that were awarded to the National Institute for Communicable Diseases, South Africa.

# Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Claudia DaSilva for organizing the meeting which formed the basis for this paper. We would also like to thank Dr. Jill Ferdinand and Tamara Pilishvili for their contributions to the scientific content of the meeting and subsequent discussions.

## References

- [1] Clemens J, Brenner R, Rao M, Tafari N, Lowe C. Evaluating new vaccines for developing countries. Efficacy or effectiveness? JAMA 1996;275(5):390-7.
- [2] de Andrade ALSS, de-Andrade Jo, Martelli CMT, e Silva SA, de-Oliveira R, Costa MSN, et al. Effectiveness of *Haemophilus influenzae* b conjugate vaccine on childhood pneumonia: a case-control study in Brazil. Int J Epidemiol 2004;33 (1):173–81.
- [3] de la Hoz F, Higuera A, Di Fabio J, Luna M, Naranjo A, de la Luz Valencia MÂa, et al. Effectiveness of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b vaccination against bacterial pneumonia in Colombia. Vaccine 2004;23(1):36–42.
- [4] Adegbola R, Secka O, Lahai G, Lloyd Evans N, Njie A, Usen S, et al. Elimination of Haemophilus influenzae type b (Hib) disease from The Gambia after the introduction of routine immunisation with a Hib conjugate vaccine: a prospective study. Lancet (London, England) 2005;366(9480):144–50.
- [5] Daza P, Banda R, Misoya K, Katsulukuta A, Gessner B, Katsande R, et al. The impact of routine infant immunization with *Haemophilus influenzae* type b conjugate vaccine in Malawi, a country with high human immunodeficiency virus prevalence. Vaccine 2006;24(37–39):6232–9.
- [6] Baqui A, El Arifeen S, Saha S, Persson Lk, Zaman K, Gessner B, et al. Effectiveness of *Haemophilus influenzae* type B conjugate vaccine on prevention of

- pneumonia and meningitis in Bangladeshi children: a case-control study. Pediatr Infect Dis I 2007:26(7):565–71.
- [7] Muganga N, Uwimana J, Fidele N, Gahimbare L, Gessner B, Mueller J, et al. Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate vaccine impact against purulent meningitis in Rwanda. Vaccine 2007;25(39–40):7001–5.
- [8] Lee E, Lewis R, Makumbi I, Kekitiinwa A, Ediamu T, Bazibu M, et al. Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate vaccine is highly effective in the Ugandan routine immunization program: a case-control study. TM & IH. Trop Med Int Health 2008;13(4):495–502.
- [9] Lewis R, Kisakye A, Gessner B, Duku C, Odipio J, Iriso R, et al. Action for child survival: elimination of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b meningitis in Uganda. Bull World Health Organ 2008;86(4):292–301.
- [10] Lee E, Corcino M, Moore A, Garib Z, Peà aC, SÃnchez J, et al. Impact of Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate vaccine on bacterial meningitis in the Dominican Republic. Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública 2008;24 (3):161–8.
- [11] Fleming J, Dieye Y, Ba O, Mutombo wa Mutombo B, Diallo N, Faye P, et al. Effectiveness of *Haemophilus influenzae* type B conjugate vaccine for prevention of meningitis in Senegal. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2011;30(5):430–2.
- [12] Pilishvili T, Chernyshova L, Bondarenko A, Lapiy F, Sychova I, Cohen A, et al. Evaluation of the effectiveness of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b conjugate vaccine introduction against radiologically-confirmed hospitalized pneumonia in young children in Ukraine. J Pediat 2013;163(1 Suppl):S12–8.
- [13] Khowaja A, Mohiuddin S, Cohen A, Mirza W, Nadeem N, Zuberi T, et al. Effectiveness of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b conjugate vaccine on radiologically-confirmed pneumonia in young children in Pakistan. J Pediat 2013;163(1 Suppl). S79–S85.e1.
- [14] Whitney CG, Pilishvili T, Farley MM, Schaffner W, Craig AS, Lynfield R, et al. Effectiveness of seven-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease: a matched case-control study. Lancet 2006;368(9546):1495–502.
- [15] Barricarte A, Castilla J, Gil-Setas A, Torroba L, Navarro-Alonso JA, Irisarri F, et al. Effectiveness of the 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine: a population-based case-control study. Clin Infect Dis 2007;44(11):1436-41.
- [16] Deceuninck G, De Wals P, Boulianne N, De Serres G. Effectiveness of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine using a 2+1 infant schedule in Quebec, Canada. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2010;29(6):546–9.
- [17] Dominguez A, Ciruela P, Garcia-Garcia JJ, Moraga F, de Sevilla MF, Selva L, et al. Effectiveness of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in the prevention of invasive pneumococcal disease in children aged 7–59 months. A matched case-control study. Vaccine 2011;29(48):9020–5.
- [18] Picon T, Alonso L, Garcia-Gabarrot G, Speranza N, Casas M, Arrieta F, et al. Effectiveness of the 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against vaccinetype invasive disease among children in Uruguay: an evaluation using existing data. Vaccine 2013;31(Suppl 3):C109–13.
- [19] Domingues CMAS, Verani J, Montenegro Renoiner E, de Cunto Brandileone MC, Flannery B, de Oliveira L. Effectiveness of ten-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease in Brazil: a matched casecontrol study. Lancet Respirat Med 2014;2(6):464–71.
- [20] Cohen C, von Mollendorf C, de Gouveia L, Naidoo N, Meiring S, Quan V, et al. Effectiveness of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease in HIV-infected and -uninfected children in South Africa: a matched case-control study. Clin Infect Dis 2014;59(6):808–18.
- [21] Madhi SA, Groome MJ, Zar HJ, Kapongo CN, Mulligan C, Nzenze S, et al. Effectiveness of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against presumed bacterial pneumonia hospitalisation in HIV-uninfected South African children: a casecontrol study. Thorax 2015;70(12):1149–55.
- [22] Jefferson T, Rivetti A, Di Pietrantonj C, Demicheli V, Ferroni E. Vaccines for preventing influenza in healthy children. Cochrane Database of System Rev 2012;8. CD004879-CD004879.
- [23] Patel M, Glass R, Desai R, Tate J, Parashar U. Fulfilling the promise of rotavirus vaccines: how far have we come since licensure? Lancet Infect Dis 2012;12 (7):561–70.
- [24] Boom J, Tate J, Sahni L, Rench M, Hull J, Gentsch J, et al. Effectiveness of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine in a large urban population in the United States. Pediatrics 2010:125(2):e199–207.
- [25] Castilla J, Beristain X, Martínez-Artola V, Navascués A, García-Cenoz M, Alvarez N, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccines in preventing cases and hospitalizations due to rotavirus gastroenteritis in Navarre, Spain. Vaccine 2012;30(3):539-43.
- [26] Correia J, Patel M, Nakagomi O, Montenegro FMU, Germano E, Correia N, et al. Effectiveness of monovalent rotavirus vaccine (Rotarix) against severe diarrhea caused by serotypically unrelated G2P[4] strains in Brazil. J Infect Dis 2010;201(3):363–9.
- [27] Cortese M, Immergluck L, Held M, Jain S, Chan T, Grizas A, et al. Effectiveness of monovalent and pentavalent rotavirus vaccine. Pediatrics 2013;132(1): e25-33
- [28] de Palma O, Cruz L, Ramos H, de Baires A, Villatoro N, Pastor D, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccination against childhood diarrhoea in El Salvador: case-control study. BMJ. Brit Med J 2010;340. c2825-c2825.
- [29] Justino MC, Linhares AC, Lanzieri TM, Miranda Y, Mascarenhas JD, Abreu E, et al. Effectiveness of the monovalent G1P[8] human rotavirus vaccine against hospitalization for severe G2P[4] rotavirus gastroenteritis in Belem, Brazil. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2011;30(5):396–401.
- [30] Muhsen K, Shulman L, Kasem E, Rubinstein U, Shachter J, Kremer A, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccines for prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis-

- associated hospitalizations in Israel: a case-control study. Human Vaccines 2010:6(6):450–4.
- [31] Patel M, Pedreira C, De Oliveira L, Tate J, Orozco M, Mercado J, et al. Association between pentavalent rotavirus vaccine and severe rotavirus diarrhea among children in Nicaragua. JAMA, J Am Med Assoc 2009;301(21):2243–51.
- [32] Patel M, Pedreira C, De Oliveira L, UmaÃfa J, Tate J, Lopman B, et al. Duration of protection of pentavalent rotavirus vaccination in Nicaragua. Pediatrics 2012:130(2):e365–72.
- [33] Snelling TL, Andrews RM, Kirkwood CD, Culvenor S, Carapetis JR. Case-control evaluation of the effectiveness of the G1P[8] human rotavirus vaccine during an outbreak of rotavirus G2P[4] infection in central Australia. Clin Infect Dis 2011;52(2):191–9.
- [34] Snelling TL, Schultz R, Graham J, Roseby R, Barnes GL, Andrews RM, et al. Rotavirus and the indigenous children of the Australian outback: monovalent vaccine effective in a high-burden setting. Clin Infect Dis 2009;49(3):428–31.
- [35] Staat MA, Payne DC, Donauer S, Weinberg GA, Edwards KM, Szilagyi PG, et al. Effectiveness of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine against severe disease. Pediatrics 2011;128(2):e267-75.
- [36] Ichihara MY, Rodrigues LC, Teles Santos CA, Teixeira Mda G, De Jesus SR, Alvim De Matos SM, et al. Effectiveness of rotavirus vaccine against hospitalized rotavirus diarrhea: a case-control study. Vaccine 2014;32(23):2740-7.
- [37] Lucas MES, Deen J, von Seidlein L, Wang X-Y, Ampuero J, Puri M, et al. Effectiveness of mass oral cholera vaccination in Beira, Mozambique. New Engl J Med 2005;352(8):757–67.
- [38] Anh D, Lopez A, Thiem V, Grahek S, Duong T, Park J, et al. Use of oral cholera vaccines in an outbreak in Vietnam: a case control study. PLoS Neglect Trop Diseases 2011;5(1). e1006-e1006.
- [39] Luquero F, Grout L, Ciglenecki I, Sakoba K, Traore B, Heile M, et al. Use of Vibrio cholerae vaccine in an outbreak in Guinea. New Engl J Med 2014;370 (22):2111–20.
- [40] Kopec JA, Esdaile JM. Bias in case-control studies. A review. J Epidemiol Commun Health 1990;44(3):179–86.
- [41] Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Modern epidemiology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia (PA): Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- [42] Rodrigues LC, Smith PG. Use of the case-control approach in vaccine evaluation: efficacy and adverse effects. Epidemiol Rev 1999;21(1):56–72.
- [43] Wacholder S, McLaughlin JK, Silverman DT, Mandel JS. Selection of controls in case-control studies. I. Principles. Am J Epidemiol 1992;135(9):1019–28.
- [44] Miles M, Ryman TK, Dietz V, Zell E, Luman ET. Validity of vaccination cards and parental recall to estimate vaccination coverage: a systematic review of the literature. Vaccine 2013;31(12):1560–8.
- [45] Mukanga D, Kiguli S. Factors affecting the retention and use of child health cards in a slum community in Kampala, Uganda, 2005. Matern Child Health J 2006;10(6):545–52.
- [46] Sonis J. A closer look at confounding. Fam Med 1998;30(8):584–8.
- [47] Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Modern epidemiology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia (PA): Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008, p. 128–46.
- [48] Fewell Z, Davey Smith G, Sterne JAC. The impact of residual and unmeasured confounding in epidemiologic studies: a simulation study. Am J Epidemiol 2007;166(6):646–55.

- [49] Ivers L, Hilaire I, Teng J, Almazor C, Jerome JG, Ternier R, et al. Effectiveness of reactive oral cholera vaccination in rural Haiti: a case-control study and bias-indicator analysis. Lancet Glob Health 2015;3(3):e162–8.
- [50] Shapiro E. Case-control studies to assess the effectiveness of vaccines. J Pediatr Infect Diseases Soc 2014;3(4):278–9.
- [51] Higgins JPT, Soares Weiser K, López López J, Kakourou A, Chaplin K, Christensen H, et al. Association of BCG, DTP, and measles containing vaccines with childhood mortality: systematic review. BMJ. Brit Med J 2016;355. i5170-i5170.
- [52] Khagayi S, Tate J, Onkoba R, Parashar U, Odhiambo F, Burton D, et al. A sham case-control study of effectiveness of DTP-Hib-hepatitis B vaccine against rotavirus acute gastroenteritis in Kenya. BMC Infect Dis 2014;14:77.
- [53] Grimes D, Schulz K. Compared to what? Finding controls for case-control studies. Lancet (London, England) 2005;365(9468):1429–33.
- [54] Keogh RH, Mangtani P, Rodrigues L, Nguipdop Djomo P. Estimating time-varying exposure-outcome associations using case-control data: logistic and case-cohort analyses. BMC Med Res Methodol 2016;16(1):2.
- [55] Hosmer JDW, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant RX. Logistic regression for matched case-control studies. Appl Log Regression, John Wiley & Sons Inc, 2013: 243– 268.
- [56] Shrier I, Platt RW. Reducing bias through directed acyclic graphs. BMC Med Res Methodol 2008;8:70.
- [57] Lane CR, Carville KS, Pierse N, Kelly HA. Seasonal influenza vaccine effectiveness estimates: development of a parsimonious case test negative model using a causal approach. Vaccine 2016;34(8):1070-6.
- [58] Puig-Barbera J, Mira-Iglesias A, Tortajada-Girbes M, Lopez-Labrador FX, Belenguer-Varea A, Carballido-Fernandez M, et al. Valencia Hospital Network for the Study of I, Respiratory Viruses D. Effectiveness of influenza vaccination programme in preventing hospital admissions, Valencia, 2014/15 early results. Euro Surveill 2015;20(8).
- [59] Knol MJ, VanderWeele TJ. Recommendations for presenting analyses of effect modification and interaction. Int | Epidemiol 2012;41(2):514–20.
- [60] Lee E, Corcino M, Moore A, Garib Z, Peña C, Sánchez J, Fernández J, Feris Iglesias Js, Flannery B. Impact of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b conjugate vaccine on bacterial meningitis in the Dominican Republic. Revista panamericana de salud Pública 2008; 24(3): 161–8.
- [61] Cummings P. Missing data and multiple imputation. JAMA Pediatr 2013;167
- [62] von Elm E, Altman D, Egger M, Pocock S, Gøtzsche P, Vandenbroucke J. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. PLoS Med 2007;4(10). e296-e296.
- [63] Hajjeh RA, Privor Dumm L, Edmond K, O'Loughlin R, Shetty S, Griffiths UK, et al. Supporting new vaccine introduction decisions: lessons learned from the Hib Initiative experience. Vaccine 2010;28(43):7123–9.
- [64] Mahoney RT, Maynard JE. The introduction of new vaccines into developing countries. Vaccine 1999;17(7–8):646–52.
- [65] Ferdinands J, Shay D. Magnitude of potential biases in a simulated case-control study of the effectiveness of influenza vaccination. Clin Infect Dis 2012;54 (1):25–32.